1



#### SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES



# **JANUARY 30, 2012**

A Special Meeting of the Council of the City of Vancouver was held on Monday, January 30, 2012, at 7:37 pm, in the Council Chamber, Third Floor, City Hall, for the purpose of holding a Public Hearing to consider proposed amendments to the Zoning, Heritage, Subdivision and Sign By-laws.

PRESENT: Mayor Gregor Robertson

Councillor George Affleck Councillor Elizabeth Ball Councillor Adriane Carr Councillor Heather Deal Councillor Kerry Jang Councillor Raymond Louie Councillor Geoff Meggs Councillor Andrea Reimer Councillor Tim Stevenson Councillor Tony Tang

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE: Tina Hildebrandt, Meeting Coordinator

# COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

MOVED by Councillor Jang SECONDED by Councillor Deal

THAT this Council resolve itself into Committee of the Whole, Mayor Robertson in the Chair, to consider proposed amendments to the Zoning, Heritage, Subdivision and Sign By-laws.

#### CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

1. HERITAGE DESIGNATION/HERITAGE REVITALIZATION AGREEMENT (HRA): 470 East 10th Avenue (The McDonald Residence)

An application by Allan Diamond, Allan Diamond Architect, was considered as follows:

Summary: To designate the existing building as a protected heritage property and to approve a Heritage Revitalization Agreement (HRA). The HRA would permit density in excess of that permitted in the RT-5 zoning, in exchange for

heritage protection and conservation. The application proposes a new infill

building at the rear of the site, which is permitted in RT-5 zoning.

The Director of Planning recommended approval, subject to the conditions as set out in the Summary and Recommendation of the Public Hearing agenda.

# **Summary of Correspondence**

Council received no correspondence on this application.

#### **Speakers**

The Mayor called for speakers for and against the application.

John Malusa spoke in support of the application.

#### **Council Decision**

#### MOVED by Councillor Deal

- A. THAT Council instruct the Director of Legal Services to bring forward for enactment a by-law to designate the heritage building, known as "The McDonald Residence" (the "heritage building"), at 470 East 10th Avenue, the lands of which have the legal description Lot 10, Block 125, District Lot 264A, Plan 830 and 1771; PID: 002-679-205 (the "Lands"), and that the heritage building be designated thereby as a protected heritage property pursuant to Section 593 of the *Vancouver Charter*.
- B. THAT Council instruct the Director of Legal Services to bring forward for enactment under Section 592 of the *Vancouver Charter* a by-law to authorize the City to enter into a heritage revitalization agreement for the heritage building to:
  - (a) secure the rehabilitation and long-term preservation of the heritage building; and
  - (b) vary the Zoning and Development By-law in respect of the Lands to permit the rehabilitation of the heritage building and the construction of a new infill dwelling thereon as proposed under Development Permit Application DE414970 and as more particularly described in this report.
- C. THAT the Heritage Revitalization Agreement shall be prepared, completed and registered and given priority on title to the Lands to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services and the Director of Planning.
- D. THAT A to C above be adopted on the following conditions:
  - (a) THAT the passage of the above resolutions creates no legal rights for the applicant or any other person, or obligation on the part of the City and any expenditure of funds or incurring of costs in relation thereto is at the risk of the person making the expenditure or incurring the cost; and
  - (b) THAT the City and all its officials shall not in any way be limited or restricted in the exercise of their authority or discretion, regardless of when they are called upon to exercise such authority or discretion.

# 2. HERITAGE DESIGNATION/HERITAGE REVITALIZATION AGREEMENT (HRA): 305 West 13th Avenue (The Munro House)

An application by Sandra Moore, Birmingham & Wood Architects + Planners, was considered as follows:

Summary: To add the existing house to the Vancouver Heritage Register, designate it as a protected heritage property, and approve a Heritage Revitalization Agreement. This would allow density in excess of that permitted in the RT-6 zoning and provide a subdivision variance in exchange for heritage protection and conservation. The proposal also includes construction of a new, two-family dwelling at the rear of the site on a newly-subdivided parcel.

The Director of Planning recommended approval, subject to the conditions as set out in the Summary and Recommendation of the Public Hearing agenda.

# **Summary of Correspondence**

Council received no correspondence on this application.

# **Speakers**

The Mayor called for speakers for and against the application and none were present.

#### Council Decision

# MOVED by Councillor Deal

- A. THAT the existing building, known as "The Munro Residence" (the "heritage building") at 305 West 13th Avenue, the lands of which have the legal description PID: 014-565-625 Lot 9, Block I, District Lot 526, Plan 1530 (the "Lands"), be added to the Vancouver Heritage Register in the 'B' evaluation category.
- B. THAT Council instruct the Director of Legal Services to bring forward for enactment a by-law to designate the heritage building and that the heritage building be designated thereby as a protected heritage property pursuant to Section 593 of the *Vancouver Charter*.
- C. THAT Council instruct the Director of Legal Services to bring forward for enactment under Section 592 of the *Vancouver Charter* a by-law to authorize the City to enter into a heritage revitalization agreement for the heritage building to:
  - (a) secure the rehabilitation and long-term preservation of the heritage building;

- (b) vary the Subdivision By-law to permit a subdivision of the Lands into two new parcels of which one will be smaller than otherwise permitted under the Subdivision By-law; and
- (c) vary the Zoning and Development By-law in respect of the two new parcels to be created by the proposed subdivision of the Lands to permit the heritage building to be situated on a new smaller parcel of land and the construction of a new Two-Family Dwelling on the other new parcel as proposed under Development Permit Applications DE414784 and DE415139 and as more particularly described in this report.
- D. THAT the Heritage Revitalization Agreement shall be prepared, completed and registered and given priority on title to the Lands to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services and the Director of Planning.
- E. THAT A to D above be adopted on the following conditions:
  - (a) THAT the passage of the above resolutions creates no legal rights for the applicant or any other person, or obligation on the part of the City and any expenditure of funds or incurring of costs in relation thereto is at the risk of the person making the expenditure or incurring the cost; and
  - (b) THAT the City and all its officials shall not in any way be limited or restricted in the exercise of their authority or discretion, regardless of when they are called upon to exercise such authority or discretion.

#### CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

# 3. TEXT AMENDMENT: 2001 Nanton Avenue (The Arbutus Club)

An application by Mr. Kevin Hanvey, Omicron, was considered as follows:

Summary: To amend an existing CD-1 (Comprehensive Development) District By-law (27) to permit a second seasonal, air-supported structure ("tennis bubble") over four existing tennis courts which are located on the roof of a building adjacent to Arbutus Street. The new tennis bubble would be 11 metres (36 feet) tall measured from court level, which is 5.5 to 6.5 metres (18.0 to 21.3 feet) above Arbutus Street. The new bubble would be installed temporarily during the fall and winter.

The Director of Planning recommended approval, subject to the conditions as set out in the Summary and Recommendation of the Public Hearing agenda.

#### **Staff Opening Comments**

lan Cooper, Senior Rezoning Planner, Rezoning Centre, explained the application and responded to questions.

# **Summary of Correspondence**

Council received no correspondence on this application.

#### **Speakers**

The Mayor called for speakers for and against the application.

Katherine Reichert, ARKS Visioning Group, spoke in support of the application.

#### **Council Decision**

#### MOVED by Councillor Louie

THAT the application by Omicron on behalf of The Arbutus Club to amend CD-1 (27) (By-law No. 4085 as amended) for 2001 Nanton Avenue (PID: 002-787-792, Lot B, Block 76, District Lot 526, Plan 11136) to increase the Floor Space Ratio (FSR) to allow for an additional seasonal air-supported structure ("tennis bubble") over existing tennis courts, generally as presented in Appendix A of the Policy Report dated November 23, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Text Amendment - 2001 Nanton Avenue", be approved subject to the following conditions:

# CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL OF THE FORM OF DEVELOPMENT

- (a) That the proposed form of development be approved by Council in principle, generally as prepared by Omicron and stamped "Received City Planning Department, July 15, 2011", provided that the Director of Planning may allow minor alterations to this form of development when approving the detailed scheme of development as outlined in (b) below.
- (b) That, prior to approval by Council of the form of development, the applicant shall obtain approval of a development application by the Director of Planning, who shall have particular regard to the following:
  - design development to ensure that the existing landscaping shall be retained and protected during construction, or replaced by equal or better quality.

# CONDITIONS OF BY-LAW ENACTMENT

(c) That, prior to enactment of the amended CD-1 By-law, the registered owner shall, at no cost to the City, and on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services, to the Director of Planning, the General Manager of Engineering Services and the General Manager of the Park Board, as necessary, make arrangements for the following:

# **Engineering Services**

- 1. Arrangements to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services and the Director of Legal Services for the following:
  - (i) for discharge of the existing sewer right-of-way 68962H;

    Note: this was to be discharged following completion of the on-site sewer relocation project approved in the 2004/2005 rezoning of the site.
  - (ii) make arrangements for all new BC Hydro and Telus services to be undergrounded within and adjacent the site from the closest existing suitable service point. All electrical services to the site must be primary with all electrical plant which includes but is not limited to junction boxes, switchgear (vista switches) and pad mounted transformers to be located on private property. In addition, any above ground kiosks required to service the area must be located on private property. The development is not to rely on secondary voltage from the existing overhead electrical network on the street right-of-way. Any alterations to the existing overhead/underground utility network to accommodate this development will require approval by the Utilities Management Branch. Early contact with the Utilities Management Branch is encouraged; and

# **Community Amenity Contribution**

2. That, prior to enactment of the amended CD-1 By-law, the registered owner shall, at no cost to the City, and on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services and the General Manager of the Park Board, deliver to the City the Community Amenity Contribution of \$65,053.82 which the developer has offered to the City, to be allocated to the Park Board for community facilities such as the skateboard park and other youth related facilities in Quilchena Park.

Note: Where the Director of Legal Services deems appropriate, the preceding agreements are to be drawn, not only as personal covenants of the property owners, but also as Covenants pursuant to Section 219 of the Land Title Act.

The preceding agreements are to be registered in the appropriate Land Title Office, with priority over such other liens, charges and encumbrances affecting the subject sites as is considered advisable by the Director of Legal Services, and otherwise to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services prior to enactment of the by-laws.

The preceding agreements shall provide security to the City including indemnities, warranties, equitable charges, letters of credit and withholding of permits, as deemed necessary by and in a form satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services. The timing of all required payments, if any, shall be determined by the appropriate City official having responsibility for each particular agreement, who may consult other City officials and City Council.

#### 4. REZONING: 2298 Galt Street

An application by Ms. Peeroj Thakre, ph5 Architecture Inc., was considered as follows:

Summary:

To rezone from RS-1 (One-Family) District to CD-1 (Comprehensive Development) District. The purpose of the rezoning is to allow the construction of a four-storey residential building, consisting of four townhouses and one secondary dwelling unit. A maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.19 and maximum height of 12.2 metres (40.0 feet) are proposed, along with four parking spaces. The proposed rezoning is located within the Transition/Low-Rise Apartment Zone identified in the Norquay Village Neighbourhood Centre Plan.

The Director of Planning recommended approval, subject to the conditions as set out in the Summary and Recommendation of the Public Hearing agenda.

# **Staff Opening Comments**

Grant Miller, Rezoning Planner, Rezoning Centre, explained the application.

# **Applicant Comments**

Ms. Peeroj Thakre, ph5 Architecture Inc., provided opening comments.

# **Summary of Correspondence**

Council received five emails expressing opposition to the application.

# **Speakers**

The Mayor called for speakers for and against the application.

The following spoke in support of the application:

Joanna Domisiewicz Christan Laub Bonnie Leung John Skender

The following spoke neither in support of, nor in opposition to the application, but noted concerns with the public consultation process, rezoning policy, building height and parking:

Joseph Jones Jeanette Jones Mary-Jo Mota The following spoke in opposition to the application, noting concerns which included the public consultation process, parking, building height, and property values:

Linda Lee
Helen Fan
Chris Geier (petition submitted)
Amy Ho
Hong Hong Mu
Stephen Bohus
Larry Deshner
Shin Shin Deshner

# Applicant Closing Comments

Ms. Thakre provided closing comments.

# **Staff Closing Comments**

Mr. Miller provided closing comments and, along with Paul Cheng, Development Planner, Urban Design and Development Planning Centre, responded to questions.

# **Council Decision**

# MOVED by Councillor Jang

A. THAT the application, by ph5 Architecture on behalf of 0739109 B.C. Ltd. (Thind Holdings Ltd.), to rezone 2298 Galt Street (PID: 027-508-749 - Lot 9, Block 8, District Lot 393, Group 1 New Westminster District Plan BCP36260) from RS-1 to CD-1, to permit Multiple Dwelling use consisting of 4 townhouses and one secondary dwelling unit at a floor space ratio of 1.19, generally as presented in Appendix A of the Policy Report dated November 23, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning - 2298 Galt Street", be approved subject to the following conditions:

#### CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL OF THE FORM OF DEVELOPMENT

- (a) That the proposed form of development be approved by Council in principle, generally as prepared by ph5 Architecture, and stamped "Received City Planning Department, June 10, 2011", provided that the Director of Planning may allow minor alterations to this form of development when approving the detailed scheme of development as outlined in (b) below.
- (b) That, prior to approval by Council of the form of development, the applicant shall obtain approval of a development application by the Director of Planning, who shall have particular regard to the following:

# **Design Development**

1. Design development to visually enliven both side elevations.

Note to Applicant: The proposed treatment shows large, uninterrupted surfaces of stucco cladding which require a certain amount of modulation and/or texture. An introduction of a secondary cladding material and a considered approach to achieving a balanced composition between two different cladding materials is suggested.

2. Clarification on the nature of the proposed stucco cladding to ensure a degree of visual texture.

Note to Applicant: This condition should be read in conjunction with Condition (b) 1. Where stucco is used for large areas on a building elevation, a certain amount of texture should be provided to avoid the affect of visual flatness. In such cases, the stucco should be of the pebble-dash or rock-dash variety. If the overall use of stucco is limited to smaller areas and forms an overall composition that is visually rich, then a smooth stucco finish may be used.

# Landscape

3. Provision of a detailed Landscape Plan illustrating soft and hard landscape treatment.

Note to Applicant: the Landscape plan should include a planting plan listing common and botanical name, size and quantity of all existing/proposed plant material. Plant material should be clearly illustrated on the Landscape Plan and keyed to the Plant List. Illustrate and clarify all outdoor surface/paving materials and hose bibs. Provide large scale elevations for perimeter privacy fencing and Timber Arbor. Trees that are 20 cm diameter (d.b.h) or greater noted on a survey and proposed to be removed will require a tree removal permit application.

4. Provision of high efficiency irrigation for all planter areas.

Note to Applicant: provide a short written specification on the development permit drawings and graphic symbols to indicate hose bibs.

5. New street trees to be provided adjacent to the development site, to be shown on the development permit plans and confirmed prior to the issuance of the building permit.

Note to Applicant: Contact Eileen Curran, Streets Engineering (604.871.6131) to confirm tree planting locations and Park Board ('311') for tree species selection and planting requirements. Provide a notation on the plan, "Final spacing, quantity and tree species to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering

Services. New trees must be of good standard, minimum 6 cm caliper, and installed with approved root barriers, tree guards and appropriate soil. Root barriers shall be 8 feet long and 18 inches in. Planting depth of root ball must be below sidewalk grade."

# Sustainability

6. Written elaboration on the sustainability features in the project necessary to attain LEED Gold and confirmation that the project has been registered with the CaGBC.

Note to Applicant: Proof of application for LEED® Gold certification will be required prior to occupancy.

# **Engineering**

- 7. Confirm east property line dimension on plans.
- 8. Delete the tree, pavers and hedge from within the BC Hydro SRW or obtain written approval from BC Hydro allowing these items to be installed within the SRW.

Note to Applicant: according to our Utilities Branch, BC Hydro is proposing to install a Low Profile Transformer in the centre of their SRW (as shown on Plan BCP43497) which appears to conflict with the features shown in the applicant's landscape plan.

9. Delete the over-hang above the ground floor encroaching over the BC Hydro SRW or obtain written approval from BC Hydro allowing the overhang to encroach into the SRW area.

Note to Applicant: the BC Hydro SRW is not indicated on plan views; see elevation, page A4.0.

10. Provide the fire flow rates so Water Design can determine which water main should serve this site.

Note to Applicant: the existing water mains are adequate for serving this site. No water main upgrade required. This property lies on the pressure zone boundary.

# CONDITIONS OF BY-LAW ENACTMENT

(c) That prior to enactment of the CD-1 By-law, arrangements on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Director of Planning, General Manager of Engineering Services, and the Director of Legal Services be made for the following:

# **Engineering**

1. Undergrounding of all new utility services from the closest existing suitable service point. All services and in particular

electrical transformers to accommodate a primary service must be located on private property. The development site is not to rely on secondary voltage from the existing overhead network. Any alterations to the existing underground/overhead utility network to accommodate the development will require review and approval by the Utilities Management Branch. Early contact with the Utilities Management Branch is encouraged.

Note: Where the Director of Legal Services deems appropriate, the preceding agreements are to be drawn, not only as personal covenants of the property owners, but also as registered charges pursuant to Section 219 of the Land Title Act.

The preceding agreements are to be registered in the appropriate Land Title office, with priority over such other liens, charges and encumbrances affecting the subject site as are considered advisable by the Director of Legal Services, and otherwise to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services prior to enactment of the by-law.

The preceding agreements shall provide security to the City including indemnities, warranties, equitable charges, and letters of credit, and provide for the withholding of permits, as deemed appropriate by, and in the form and content satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services.

B. THAT, subject to enactment of the CD-1 By-law, the Director of Legal Services be instructed to bring forward the amendment to the Subdivision By-law, generally as presented in Appendix C of the Policy Report dated November 23, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning - 2298 Galt Street".

**CARRIED** 

(Councillors Affleck, Ball and Carr opposed)

\* \* \* \* \*

At 10:00 pm, during the hearing of speakers, it was

MOVED by Councillor Louie

THAT, under Section 6.8 of the Procedure By-law, Council suspend Section 2.3(e) of the Procedure By-law with regard to meeting end time, in order to complete Item No. 5.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY AND BY THE REQUIRED MAJORITY

\* \* \* \* \*

#### 5. **REZONING:** 1077 Great Northern Way

An application by Mr. Ron Clay (Associate), Proscenium Architecture and Interiors Inc., was considered as follows:

Summary:

To rezone both 1077 Great Northern Way from I-3 (Industrial) District and 2099 Glen Drive from I-2 (Industrial) District to CD-1 (Comprehensive Development) District. The purpose of the rezoning is to remove restrictions on the amount of office space allowed and permit the development of a new five-storey office headquarters for Mountain Equipment Co-op. The proposal would see a three-phased development with a total floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.8. The maximum height of the

proposed building would be 30.5 metres.

The Director of Planning recommended approval, subject to the conditions as set out in the Summary and Recommendation of the Public Hearing agenda.

# **Staff Opening Comments**

Farhad Mawani, Rezoning Planner, Rezoning Centre, explained the application, and noted that the provisions included as Appendix A of the Policy Report dated November 22, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning - 1077 Great Northern Way", provided a clause to exclude roof areas in the computation of floor space ratio for this project. However, the clause is not required for the application and has been omitted from the draft by-law posted for this item.

# **Applicant Comments**

Sandy Treagus, Chief Financial Officer, Mountain Equipment Co-op, provided opening comments and responded to questions.

# **Summary of Correspondence**

Council received two emails expressing opposition to the application.

# **Speakers**

The Mayor called for speakers for and against the project.

Mark Betteridge, CEO, Discovery Parks, spoke in support of the application.

Stephen Bohus spoke in opposition to the application.

# Staff Closing Comments

Mr. Mawani provided closing comments and, along with Kent Munro, Assistant Director, Current Planning, and Eric Mital, Neighbourhood Parking and Transportation Engineer, responded to questions.

#### Council Decision

# MOVED by Councillor Louie

A. THAT the application, by Proscenium Architecture and Interiors Inc. on behalf of Mountain Equipment Co-operative (MEC), to rezone both 1077 Great Northern Way from I-3 (Industrial) District and 2099 Glen Drive from I-2 (Industrial) District to CD-1 (Comprehensive Development) District to permit a phased office development, generally as presented in Appendix A of the Policy Report dated November 22, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning - 1077 Great Northern Way", be approved subject to the following conditions:

#### CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL OF THE FORM OF DEVELOPMENT

- (a) That the proposed form of development be approved by Council in principle, generally as prepared by Proscenium Architecture and Interiors Inc., on behalf of Mountain Equipment Co-operative (MEC), and stamped "Received City Planning Department, June 30, 2011", provided that the Director of Planning may allow minor alterations to this form of development when approving the detailed scheme of development as outlined in (b) below;
- (b) That, prior to approval by Council of the form of development, the applicant shall obtain approval of a development application by the Director of Planning, who shall have particular regard to the following:

# **Urban Design**

- 1. Design development to the architecture and landscape in order to better meet the guidelines for the area, including:
  - (i) Revision of the main building entry and path to improve its visual prominence from the street.
  - (ii) Improved screening of the proposed surface parking lot.
  - (iii) Provision of more generous weather protection for pedestrians around the entry.
  - (iv) Clarification that the glazing at grade is to be clear and transparent, to allow views into the building.
  - (v) Provision of a lighting design that ensures safety and security while enhancing the site's natural and built features and avoiding glare or light trespass.
  - (vi) Provision of a reference signage design for the site, integrated into the proposed architecture and landscape.

Note to Applicant: While staff entries may be more integral to the structure, the public entry should have greater legibility.

- 2. Design development to the portion of the west wall visible from Great Northern Way, to add visual interest consistent with other visible sides of the building.
- 3. Notation on the elevation drawings of all finishes, including colour, material, and dimension.

Note to Applicant: The coursing, texture, thickness and unit height of the different masonry surfaces should be identified. Attach colour samples to the drawings, and note colour in the legend. The continuation of finishes to built areas not shown on the elevations such as soffits, overhangs and wall returns should be noted, or supplementary drawings provided.

4. Provision of enlarged drawings at  $\frac{1}{2}$ " = 1'-0" or better scale for all significant exterior features.

Note to Applicant: Design should be consistent with the intents of the I-3 District Guidelines.

5. Enlarged drawings to show the design and visual screening of any rooftop mechanical equipment or rooms.

#### **CPTED**

6. Notations on the drawing indicating the Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) approach taken to any local risks such as theft from underground parking; residential break and enter; mail theft; and mischief including vandalism.

Note to Applicant: Show how lighting and glazing will be used to improve perceived safety in underground areas. Nearby businesses should be consulted to determine whether any other risks exist in the area, and specific design response noted on the plans. Design features that address CPTED principles should be noted in the development permit application.

# Landscape

- 7. Design development to the entry plaza to create a more visually open approach from both Glen Drive and from Great Northern Way. Pedestrians arriving at the site should be able to easily identify the front entrance. Wider entry pathways and clearer sightlines should be considered.
- 8. Provision of additional seating throughout the at-grade landscape. The seating should include both groups of seating as well as individual benches.
- 9. Consideration to provide bike paths that weave through the site, in order to make the arrival by bike more interesting.

- 10. Consideration to provide public art to the site. The public art could reflect the history of the site, including it's industrial past.
- 11. Provision of flexibility in design for the garden planters on the accessible roof deck. Flexibility in design will allow the planters to be utilized for urban agriculture, or for more conventional landscape planting.

Note to Applicant: The garden beds should be universally accessible and suitable for urban agricultural activity. In addition, compost bins and necessary infrastructure such as tool storage, hose bibs and potting benches should be included in the design of the roof deck.

- 12. Provision of soil depth for roof top trees to meet or exceed the BCSLA Landscape Standard 7th Edition.
- 13. Provision of a detailed elevation and section at the time of development permit application of the green screen trellis proposed for along the western property line.
- 14. Provision of best practices for managing water conservation.

Note to Applicant: Where the deletion of irrigation for planters on slab is a strategy to earn a LEED® point, provide a written rationale should be provided which includes consideration of the choice of plants, the amount of sum exposure, and the soil volumes. A maintenance schedule for watering the plants during the first year following installation should also be included.

- 15. Provision, at the time of development permit application, of a full Landscape Plan. The Landscape Plan should illustrate proposed plant materials (with common and botanical names, plant sizes and quantities), paving, walls, fences, light fixtures, site grading and other landscape features. Plant material should be listed in a Plant List that is clearly keyed to the Landscape Plan. The Landscape Plan should be a minimum 1:100 or 1/8" scale.
- 16. Provision, at the time of development permit application, of a lighting plan.

#### Engineering

17. Design details to the interface between the multi-use path and building entry points and their elevations such that drainage from the greenway is collected on public property and any drainage on site is not directed to the 9.0 m (29.5 ft.) right-of-way. The 9.0 m (29.5 ft.) right-of-way is not to be used for any form of stormwater storage or retention.

Note to Applicant: Revised building grades may be required to reflect the need grades at the interface between the building and the multi-use path.

18. Clarify cyclist and pedestrian circulation from the existing and future Central Valley Greenway, to and through the site as well as from Glen Drive.

Note to Applicant: circulation for cyclists entering the site is unclear.

- 19. Show all property line dimensions on the site plan.
- 20. Existing sewer connection location may be reused. Please consult with sewers design branch to confirm connection locations.

Note to Applicant: an interconnected water service connection will be required for this site.

# Sustainability - Green Building

21. Identification on the plans and elevations of the built elements contributing to the building's sustainability performance as required by the Green Buildings Policy for Rezonings, including at a minimum 63 points in the LEED® rating system, six optimize energy performance points, one water efficiency point, and one stormwater point.

Note to Applicant: Provide a LEED® checklist confirming the above; a detailed written description of how the above-noted points have been achieved with reference to specific building features in the development; and notation of the features on the plans and elevations. The checklist and description should be incorporated into the drawing set. Registration and certification of the project is also required under the policy.

# Sustainability - Renewable Energy

- 22. Revise the District Energy Screening Study to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services.
- 23. Provide for any further feasibility studies and technical investigations required to confirm the economic and technical viability of the preferred approach to implementing a low-carbon Renewable Energy System (i.e., geoexchange or alternative) to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services. If results of the testing program and/or further analysis do not support the development of a low-carbon system such a system may not be required, however buildings will be required to be easily connectable and compatible with a future hot water distribution District Energy System.

Note to Applicant: Conclusions on system viability must be agreed to by the General Manager of Engineering Services. Where District Energy connectivity is required, the applicant shall refer to the District Energy Connectivity Standards for specific in building mechanical design requirements, which include provisions related to the location of the mechanical room, centralization of mechanical equipment, pumping and control strategy, and other hydronic heating and domestic hot water system minimum requirements.

24. The Renewable Energy System shall reduce greenhouse gas emissions by a minimum of 50% relative to business as usual approach (where space and domestic hot water heating would otherwise be met through natural gas combustion and through the use of chillers and cooling towers for any space cooling requirements).

Note to Applicant: Selection of the preferred renewable energy technology and approach to implementation must be approved by the General Manager of Engineering Services as further information regarding feasibility of technology and approaches to implementation are determined. The Applicant is advised to work closely with Staff to ensure emerging detailed building designs coordinate with potential energy system design requirements.

- 25. The energy system shall be designed in such a way as to enable energy monitoring for the purpose of determining overall system performance, to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services. The monitoring shall enable calculation of total energy demand of the energy system, including electricity, natural gas, and renewable sourced energy, and shall include the following:
  - (i) At minimum, gas-fired systems, if present, shall include inlet and outlet temperature sensors and a flow meter (or BTU meter) on the building loop, and gas meters to measure fuel usage.
  - (ii) At minimum, heat pump system monitoring controls shall include inlet and outlet temperature sensors and a flow meter (or BTU meter) on both the source side and load side.
  - (iii) Sensors and flow meters should be capable of logging data for use in performance monitoring and reporting.
  - (iv) The monitoring shall include both heating and cooling production of the energy system.
  - (v) Alternative means of system monitoring may be agreed to by the General Manager of Engineering Services.

26. Detailed design of the Renewable Energy System must be to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services.

# **Sustainable Larger Sites**

- 27. An approach to Sustainable Site Design shall be taken and where appropriate, incorporate layout and orientation approaches that reduce energy needs, facilitate passive energy solutions, incorporate urban agricultural opportunities, and replicate natural systems where feasible.
- 28. Provision of a Green Mobility and Clean Vehicles Strategy that includes the requisite infrastructure where appropriate to prioritize sustainable transportation modes including walking, cycling, public transit, and provisions for low carbon vehicles (e.g., electric vehicles), completed to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services, and prior to Development Permit issuance the completion of any agreements required by this Strategy on terms and conditions acceptable to the General Manager of Engineering Services and the Director of Legal Services.

Note to Applicant: The Green Mobility and Clean Vehicles Strategy should be coordinated with the Transportation Study and Traffic Management Plan.

29. Provision of a Sustainable Rainwater Management plan that utilizes sustainable strategies to allow for infiltration, retention, treatment and utilization of rainwater where applicable and appropriate on site.

Note to Applicant: The requirements of the Sustainable Rainwater Management Plan should be coordinated/integrated with the required Landscape Plan (see condition # 15).

30. Provision of a Solid Waste Diversion Strategy that addresses waste diversion in all solid waste generating activities within the development.

Note to Applicant: The strategy must provide space, infrastructure and an operational approach to divert organics and recyclables from the waste stream; and, minimize the vehicle trips required for collection, all to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services; and, prior to Development Permit issuance the completion of any agreements required by this Strategy on terms and conditions acceptable to the General Manager of Engineering Services and the Director of Legal Services.

#### CONDITIONS OF BY-LAW ENACTMENT

(c) That, prior to enactment of the CD-1 By-law, the registered owner shall on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services and to the Director of Planning, the General Manager of Engineering Services, the Managing Director of Cultural Services and the Approving Officer, as necessary, and at the sole cost and expense of the owner/developer, make arrangements for the following:

# **Engineering**

- 1. Consolidation of the two lots into a single site.
- 2. Provision of BC Transit approval for the proposed use of the areas described within SRW BW514293 (Plan BCP14325) and Easements BW514297, BW514298 and BW514299 (areas A, B and E on Plan BCP14327).
- 3. Release of SRW 364581M, which is in favour of the City of Vancouver for public utilities, as the SRW area is not located over the subject property.
- 4. Provision of a 9.0 m (29.5 ft.) wide statutory right-of-way along the south edge of the site and measured from the existing south property line of the site for public use and for development of the Central Valley Greenway/multi-use path.
  - Note to Applicant: The proposed statutory right-of-way is to allow for a building encroachment above grade (the triangular appurtenance) with a minimum 4.88 m (16 ft.) of clearance above the City building grades established for the site. The site is to be responsible for full maintenance of all features constructed within the statutory right-of-way. Note the current SRW 459460M (Explanatory Plan 9483) applies to 10 ft. (3.24 m) along the south of the site and does not allow any building or structure within its existing right-of-way area. Deletion of all encroaching structures (other than the building encroachment described above) is required.
- 5. Provision of a Services Agreement to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services and the Director of Legal Services for the following:
  - (i) Provision of an eastbound to northbound raised left-turn bay and treed median on Great Northern Way at Glen Drive, including realignment of the lane lines, curbing, utilities, lamp standards, utility poles and street furniture adjustments to accommodate construction of the left turn bay and median. Median design to be subject to any future Council approved amendments to the geometrics

- and road design for Great Northern Way. The work to be at 100% of the applicant's expense.
- (ii) Construction of the Central Valley Greenway/multi-use path within the 9.0 m (29.5 ft.) statutory right-of-way for the entire width of the Great Northern Way frontage of the site. Improvements to include lighting, improvements for cyclists crossing at Glen Drive, and the provision and ongoing maintenance of a bicycle air pump. The design and construction costs are to be 100% of the applicant's expense.
- (iii) Provision of standard concrete sidewalk on Glen Drive adjacent the site.
- (iv) A review of the existing street lighting adjacent the site with any upgrading of the street lighting to meet the office use standards to be conducted at 100% of the applicant's cost.
- (v) Provision of street trees adjacent the site where space permits.
- 6. Provision of all utility services to be underground from the closest existing suitable service point. All electrical services to the site must be primary with all electrical plant, which include but are not limited to, junction boxes, switchgear, pad mounted transformers and kiosks are to be located on private property. There will be no reliance on secondary voltage from the existing overhead electrical network on the street right-of-way. Any alterations to the existing overhead/underground utility network to accommodate this development will require approval by the Utilities Management Branch. The applicant may be required to show details of how the site will be provided with all services being underground.
- 7. Provision of adequate water service to meet the fire flow demands of the project. The current application lacks the details to determine if water main upgrading is required. Please supply project details including projected fire flow demands as determined by the applicant's mechanical consultant to determine if water system upgrading is required. Should upgrading be necessary then arrangements to the satisfaction of the General Manager of Engineering Services and the Director of Legal Services will be required to secure payment for the upgrading. The developer is responsible for 100% of any water system upgrading that may be required.

Soils

8. The property owner shall, as required by the Manager of Environmental Protection and the Director of Legal Services in their discretion, do all things and/or enter into such agreements

- deemed necessary to fulfil the requirements of Section 571(B) of the Vancouver Charter.
- 9. Enter into a remediation agreement for the remediation of the site and any contaminants which have migrated there from on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Manager of Environmental Protection, City Engineer and Director of Legal Services including a Section 219 Covenant that there will be no occupancy of any buildings or improvements on the site constructed pursuant to this rezoning, until a Certificate of Compliance(s) satisfactory to the City of the on-site and off-site contamination, issued by the Ministry of Environment has been provided to the city.

#### Flood Plain Covenant

10. Execute a Flood Plain Covenant to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services and the Chief Building Official.

#### Public Art

11. Execute an agreement satisfactory to the Directors of Legal Services and Cultural Services for the provision of public art in accordance with the City's Public Art Policy, such agreement to provide for security in a form and amount satisfactory to the aforesaid officials; and provide a preliminary public art plan to the satisfaction of the Public Art Program Manager

Note to Applicant: To discuss your application please contact Bryan Newson, Public Art Program Manager, 604.871.6002.

Note: Where the Director of Legal Services deems appropriate, the preceding agreements are to be drawn, not only as personal covenants of the property owners, but also as Covenants pursuant to Section 219 of the Land Title Act.

The preceding agreements are to be registered in the appropriate Land Title Office, with priority over such other liens, charges and encumbrances affecting the subject site as is considered advisable by the Director of Legal Services, and otherwise to the satisfaction of the Director of Legal Services prior to enactment of the by-law.

The preceding agreements shall provide security to the City including indemnities, warranties, equitable charges, letters of credit and withholding of permits, as deemed necessary by and in a form satisfactory to the Director of Legal Services. The timing of all required payments, if any, shall be determined by the appropriate City official having responsibility for each particular agreement, who may consult other City officials and City Council.

- B. THAT the application to amend Schedule E of the Sign By-law to establish regulations for this CD-1 District in accordance with Schedule B to the Sign By-law [assigned Schedule "B" I-3], generally as set out in Appendix C of the Policy Report dated November 22, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning 1077 Great Northern Way", be approved.
- C. THAT, subject to enactment of the CD-1 By-law, the Director of Legal Services be instructed to bring forward the amendment to the Noise Control By-law to include this CD-1 in Schedule B, generally as set out in Appendix C of the Policy Report dated November 22, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning 1077 Great Northern Way".
- D. THAT, subject to enactment of the CD-1 By-law, the Director of Legal Services be instructed to bring forward the necessary amendments to the Parking By-law to include this CD-1 and to provide parking regulations, generally as set out in Appendix C of the Policy Report dated November 22, 2011, entitled "CD-1 Rezoning 1077 Great Northern Way".

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

# RISE FROM COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

MOVED by Councillor Ball

THAT the Committee of the Whole rise and report.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

#### ADOPT REPORT OF COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

MOVED by Councillor Deal SECONDED by Councillor Jang

THAT the report of the Committee of the Whole be adopted, and the Director of Legal Services be instructed to prepare and bring forward the necessary by-law amendments.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

The Special Council adjourned at 10:54 pm.

\* \* \* \* \*